
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Sheila Dykes 
 

Email: sheila.dykes@kirklees.gov.uk or 
andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 20 March 2024 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will meet in the Town Hall, Huddersfield, 
HD1 2TT at 1.00 pm on Thursday 28 March 2024. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 10:30 to undertake a site visit. The consideration of 
planning applications will commence at 1.00 pm in the Council Chamber.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Strategic Planning Committee members are:- 
 

 
When a Member of the Strategic Planning Committee cannot attend the meeting, a 
member of the Substitutes Panel (below) may attend in their place in accordance with the 
provision of Council Procedure Rule 35(7). 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
D Bellamy 
D Hall 
A Gregg 
R Smith 
J Taylor

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper 
S Lee-Richards

Labour 
B Addy 
P Moore  
E Firth 
T Hawkins 
H Zaman 

Liberal Democrat 
PA Davies 
J Lawson 
A Munro 
A Marchington 
A Smith 

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Steve Hall (Chair) 
Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Moses Crook 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor Mark Thompson 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting and details of substitutions and for 
whom they are attending. to the Committee membership. 

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 
22nd February 2024. 

 
 

1 - 4 

 

3:   Minutes of the Heavy Woollen and Huddersfield Area 
Planning Sub-Committees 
 
In light of the replacement of the Planning Sub-Committees, Heavy 
Woollen Area and Huddersfield Area, the minutes of the last meeting 
of each body are submitted to this Committee for ratification: 
(i) Planning Sub-Committee (Heavy Woollen Area) – 8th February 
2024 
(ii) Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield) – 1st February 2024. 

 
 

5 - 10 

 

4:   Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests, any other 
interests, or been lobbied, which may prevent them from 
participating in any discussion of the items or participating in any 
vote upon the items. 

 
 

11 - 12 

 

5:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 

 
 

 

 
 



 

 

6:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 
Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 

 
 

 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application 2022/91816 
 
Alterations to convert existing properties at Carrs Close to create 6 
apartments and the erection of a block of 12 apartments, with 
associated infrastructure, access, and landscaping works on land at 
Occupation Lane and Carrs Close, Staincliffe, Dewsbury. 
 

Contact: Elenya Jackson, Planning Services 
 

Estimated time of arrival on site: 11:00 am 
 

 

 

 

8:   Planning Applications 
 
The Planning Committee will consider the attached schedule of 
planning applications.     
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must register to speak by 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 
11:59pm (for email requests) on Monday 25th March 2024. 
 
To register, please email governance.planning@kirklees.gov.uk or 
telephone the Governance Team on 01484 221000, Sheila Dykes 
(ext 73896) or Andrea Woodside (ext 74993). 

 
 

13 - 14 

 

9:   Planning Application - Application No: 2022/91816 
 
Alterations to convert existing properties at Carrs Close to create 6 
apartments and the erection of a block of 12 apartments, with 
associated infrastructure, access, and landscaping works on land at 
Occupation Lane and Carrs Close, Staincliffe, Dewsbury. 
 
Contact: Elenya Jackson, Planning Services 
 
Ward(s) affected: Batley West 

 
 

15 - 36 



 

 

 

Planning Update 
 

 

An update report providing further information on matters raised after the publication of the 
agenda will be added to the online agenda prior to the meeting. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Sheila Dykes  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 22nd February 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Steve Hall (Chair) 
 Councillor Bill Armer 

Councillor Moses Crook 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor Mark Thompson 

 
 

1 Membership of the Committee 
All Members of the Committee were in attendance. 
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
Resolved – 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 21st January 2024 be 
agreed as a correct record. 
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
No interests were declared. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items were held in public session. 
 

5 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

6 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were submitted. 
 

7 Site Visit - Application 2021/94280 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

8 Planning Application - 2021/94280 
The Committee considered Application 2021/94280 in respect of the erection of 65 
dwellings, with associated works, on land at Lady Ann Road, Soothill, Batley. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 36(3), the Committee received a 
representation from Councillor Habiban Zaman. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee recived 
representations from Steven Potter (in objection, on behalf of Soothill Resident’s 
Association) and Lee Machell (on behalf of the applicant). 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  22 February 2024 
 

2 
 

Resolved - 
 
(1) That approval of the application and issue of the decision notice be delegated to 

the Head of Planning and Development in order to: 
 
(a) Complete the list of conditions, including those contained within the report, as 

set out below, and subject to: the amendment of Condition 3*, to require all 
dwellings to be faced in natural stone; and an additional condition in respect 
of a scheme for archaeological investigation and recording.  
1. Three years to commence development. 
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans and 

specifications. 
3. Walling and roofing material samples to be submitted and approved*. 

Render colour to be matching to elevation. 
4. Development to be done in accordance with level strategy. 
5. Details of proposed retaining wall materials to be provided. 
6. Detailed landscaping strategy to be provided and implemented, with 

management and maintenance details to be approved. 
7. Full details of boundary treatments to be submitted and approved. 
8. Arboricultural Method Statement to be submitted and approved. No 

unidentified tree-works to take place unless further Arboricultural Impact / 
Method Statement provided. 

9. Plot 36’s side facing windows to be obscured. 
10. Remove Permitted Development rights for outbuildings and extensions 

(all units) 
11. Updated noise report to be undertaken and necessary mitigation 

implemented. 
12. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CMP) to be submitted, 

approved, and adhered to. 
13. Detailed plan for the equipment and design of the Local Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP) to be submitted, approved, and implemented. 
14. Access sightlines to be implemented and secured. 
15. Technical design strategy for Lady Ann Road/Soothill Lane 

improvements and implementation (with flexibility if wider improvement 
scheme implemented). 

16. Full technical details of the internal road, access, and paths through 
Public Open Space (POS) areas, to adoptable standard to be provided, 
approved, and implemented. 

17. Full technical details of new retaining walls to be provided, approved and 
implemented. 

18. Bin stores to be provided. 
19. Highway condition survey to be undertaken. 
20. Travel Plan to be provided and implemented. 
21. Details of cycle storage per plot to be provided, approved, and 

implemented. 
22. Construction phase waste collection strategy to be submitted, 

approved, and adhered to. 
23. Contaminated land investigations to be undertaken and remediation 

/validation undertaken as required. 

Page 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  22 February 2024 
 

3 
 

24. Development to be undertaken in accordance with flood routing 
strategy. 

25. Development to be undertaken in accordance with Flood Risk 
Assessment, including regrading works and Finished Floor Levels. 

26. Full technical details of the drainage strategy to be provided, 
approved, and implemented. 

27. Details of temporary surface water drainage arrangements, during 
construction, to be provided and adhered to. 

28. Ecological Design Strategy to achieve 11.34 habitat units and 10% gain 
of hedgerow and river unitson site plus ecological mitigation measures 

29. CEMP: Biodiversity to be submitted, approved, and implemented. 
30. Lighting strategy (amenity, ecology, and crime mitigation) 
31. No site clearance within the bird breeding season (unless appropriate 

survey undertaken). 
   

(b) secure a S106 agreement to cover the following matters: 
(i) Affordable Housing: 5 (7.7% of units) first homes (3xB3T1 and 2x 

B3T2) 
(ii) Education: £71,848 
(iii) Public Open Space (off-site): £62,058 
(iv) Net Gain (to secure 10% net gain off-site): £180,780 
(v) Sustainable Travel (Bus Pass): £33,248 
(vi) Sustainable Travel (Bus stop improvement): £10,500 
(vii) Sustainable Travel (PROW Improvement): £10,000 
(viii) Travel Plan monitoring: £10,000 
(ix) Management and maintenance: Public Open Space, drainage 

(including culverts) and ecological features. 
(x) Viability Review Mechanism: An updated viability report to be 

provided to the Local Planning Authority at (TBD%) occupation, with 
additional Section 106 obligation to be provided if a higher-than-
expected profit is achieved. 

(2) In the circumstances where the Section 106 agreement has not been 
completed within 3 months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the 
Head of Planning and Development shall consider whether permission should 
be refused on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the 
absence of the benefits that would have been secured; if so, the Head of 
Planning and Development be authorised to determine the application and 
impose appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated powers. 

 

 
A recorded vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows: 
For: Councillors Armer, Crook, Hall, Pattison, A Pinnock, Sokhal and Thompson (7 
votes)  
Against: (no votes) 
 
 
 

Page 3



Strategic Planning Committee -  22 February 2024 
 

4 
 

9 Applications for Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs) to (1) upgrade 
the recorded status of FPs MEL/70 and MEL/38 to bridleway and (2) vary the 
particulars of FP MEL/70 to record limitations of a locked gate and squeeze 
stile. 
The Committee considered applications for Definitive Map Modification Orders 
(DMMOs) to: 
(1) Upgrade the recorded status of footpaths Meltham 70 and Meltham 38 (part) 

from footpath to bridleway. 
(2) Vary the particulars for part of footpath Meltham 70 to record as limitations a 

squeeze stile 45cm wide next to a locked gate. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee heard 
representations from Andy Dunlop (on behalf of the owners of Wood Nook), Mark 
Corrigan (on behalf of the British Horse Society) and Andy Leader (on behalf of 
Peak and Northern Footpaths Society).    
 
Application (1) 
Resolved – 
(1) That officers be authorised to make a Definitive Map Modification Order,  under 
s53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, to upgrade the recorded status of 
Meltham 70 (A-B on the plan included within the Planning Update) and part of 
Meltham 38 (B to C on the plan included within the Planning Update) from footpath 
to bridleway and to add to the Definitive Map a public bridleway between the 
currently recorded termination point of Meltham 38 and Wood Nook Lane (C and D 
on the plan included within the Planning Update).  

(2) That, should the Order to upgrade to / add a bridleway be made and opposed, 
and the matter referred to the Secretary of State, the Council actively support the 
confirmation of the Order at any public inquiry or hearing.  

A recorded vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows: 
For: Councillors Armer, Crook, Hall, Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (6 votes)  
Against: (no votes) 
 
Application 2: 
Resolved - 
That the application for an Order to vary the particulars recorded in the Definitive 
Map and the Statement in respect of part of footpath Meltham 70, to record as 
limitations a squeeze stile 45cm wide next to a locked gate, be refused.  

A recorded vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows: 
For: Councillors Armer, Crook, Hall, Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (6 votes)  
Against: (no votes) 
 
 

Page 4



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HEAVY WOOLLEN AREA) 
 

Thursday 8th February 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Eric Firth (Chair) 
 Councillor Timothy Bamford 

Councillor Adam Gregg 
Councillor Steve Hall 
Councillor John Lawson 
Councillor Mussarat Pervaiz 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Jackie Ramsay 
Councillor Shabir Pandor 

  
Apologies: Councillor Gwen Lowe 

Councillor Joshua Sheard 
 

 
1 Membership of the Sub-Committee 

Councillor Sokhal substituted for the Labour Group vacancy. 
 
Apologies for absence were received on behalf of Councillors Lowe and Sheard. 
 

2 Minutes of Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 9 November 2023 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
There were no declarations of interest or lobbying.  
 

4 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

7 Site Visit - Application No: 2023/90116 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

8 Site Visit - Application No: 2023/92327 
Site visit undertaken. 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Planning Sub-Committee (Heavy Woollen Area) -  8 February 2024 
 

2 
 

9 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/90116 
The Sub Committee gave consideration to Application 2023/90116 – Outline 
application for erection of residential development at the rear of 135 Heckmondwike 
Road, Dewsbury Moor. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub-Committee received 
representations from Abdul Ali (applicant) and Hamish Gledhill (applicant’s agent). 
 
RESOLVED – That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development to approve the application, issue the decision notice and complete the 
list of conditions including matters relating to;    
 

- Approval of the details of appearance, landscaping, layout, and scale to be 
approved at reserved matters stage  

- Timescale for submission of reserved matters  
- Implementation following reserved matters  
- In accordance with submitted plans  
- Submission and approval of further noise assessment (pre-commencement)  
- Noise Assessment Report and Mitigation Scheme (pre-commencement) 
- Submission of a lighting scheme  
- Construction Environmental Management Plan (pre-commencement)  
- Intrusive site investigations and necessary remediation – coal mining (pre-

commencement)  
- Submission of a statement or declaration confirming that the site is safe and 

stable for the approved development 
- Submission of Phase 1 Preliminary Risk Assessment Report in relation to 

contaminated land (pre-commencement)  
- Submission of Phase 2 Intrusive Site Investigation Report in relation to 

contaminated land (pre-commencement)  
- Submission of Remediation Strategy in relation to contaminated land (pre-

commencement)  
- Implementation of Remediation Strategy in relation to contaminated land  
- Verification Report in relation to contaminated land  
- Imported materials in relation to contaminated land  
- Provision of electric vehicle charging points  
- Provision of bird boxes  
- Removal of any obstruction within the visibility splay  
- Drainage details (pre-commencement)  
- Overland Flow Routing in relation to drainage (pre-commencement) 
- Construction Phase Surface Water Flood Risk and Pollution prevention plan 

(pre-commencement)  
 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Bamford, E Firth, Gregg, S Hall, J Lawson, Pervaiz, Pandor,  
A Pinnock, Ramsay and Sokhal 
Against: (no votes) 
 
 
 

Page 6



Planning Sub-Committee (Heavy Woollen Area) -  8 February 2024 
 

3 
 

10 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/92327 
The Sub Committee gave consideration to Application 2023/92327 – Erection of six 
dwellings, including associated parking, landscaping, open space and ball stop 
netting (modified proposal) at Green Acres Close, Emley.  
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub-Committee received a 
representation from Ben Gibson (on behalf of the applicant).  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
1) That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Development to approve 
the application, issue the decision notice and complete the list of conditions 
including matters relating to;    
 

- Development to commence within three years 
- Development to be undertaken in accordance with the approved 

plans/information 
- The external walls and roofs of the dwellings to be constructed in accordance 

with the materials approved under 2021/93286 
- All areas shown to be used for parking and turning shall be laid in a 

permeable surface 
- The installation of an electric vehicle recharging point for each dwelling  
- The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Construction 

Management Plan (approved under 2023/92254) 
- Development to be undertaken in accordance with crime 

prevention/boundary treatment plan (ref Z115.114 Rev B) 
- Details of external lighting prior to its installation 
- Detailed design of ball-stop net and associated columns 
- A management maintenance plan to include the routine inspection and 

maintenance, and long-term repair and replacement of columns, netting and 
such other associated apparatus 

- Foul, surface water and land drainage to be undertaken in accordance with 
details approved under 2023/92254 

- Temporary surface water drainage to be undertaken in accordance with 
details approved under 2023/92254 

- Development in accordance with the advice and directions 
(recommendations) contained in the Arboricultural Method Statement, 
reference, Wharncliffe Trees and Woodland Consultancy approved under 
2021/93286) 

- Management and maintenance programme for landscape scheme 
- Details of all new retaining walls/ building retaining walls adjacent to the 

existing/ proposed adoptable highways 

Page 7



Planning Sub-Committee (Heavy Woollen Area) -  8 February 2024 
 

4 
 

- Details of any new surface water attenuation pipes/manhole located within 
the proposed highway footprint 

- A plan detailing the position and location of bat and bird boxes and hedgehog 
friendly fence panels 

- Construction Environmental Management Plan to be undertaken in 
accordance with details approved under 2023/92254 

- Removal of PD rights for Class Classes A to E inclusive of Part 1 of Schedule 
2 for plots 14 – 19 

- The claimed public footpath shall be finished in a crushed stone 
- Development to be undertaken in accordance with the approved Ecological 

Design Strategy 
- Where site remediation is recommended in the Geoenvironmental Appraisal 

(Lithos, 3253/2A, March 2020) and/or the Gas Risk Assessment (Lithos, 
016/3253/LIZ/at, 31/07/2019) development shall not commence until a 
Remediation Strategy has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority 

- Remediation of the site shall be carried out and completed in accordance 
with the Remediation Strategy approved pursuant to Condition 2 

- Following completion of any measures identified in the approved 
Remediation Strategy or any approved revised Remediation Strategy a 
Validation Report shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority 

- No removal of hedgerows, trees or shrubs shall take place between 1st 
March and 31st August inclusive.  
 

2) That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Development to secure 
a S106 Agreement Deed of Variation, linking this approval to the previous Section 
106 Agreement dated 23/06/2021, Deed of Variation dated 03/03/2023 and the S73 
application (2023/92255) Deed of variation (currently being processed).   
 
3) That, pursuant to (2) above, in circumstances where the S106 Agreement has not 
been completed within three months of this decision, the Head of Planning and 
Development shall be authorised to consider whether permission should be refused 
on the grounds that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits 
that would have been secured, and would therefore be permitted to determine the 
Application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated powers. 
 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Bamford, E Firth, Gregg, S Hall, J Lawson, Pandor, Pervaiz,  
A Pinnock, Ramsay and Sokhal (10 votes) 
Against: (no votes) 
 
 
 

Page 8



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Sheila Dykes  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE (HUDDERSFIELD AREA) 
 

Thursday 1st February 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Sheikh Ullah (Chair) 
 Councillor Donna Bellamy 

Councillor Eric Firth 
Councillor Jo Lawson 
Councillor Susan Lee-Richards 
Councillor Andrew Marchington 
Councillor Tony McGrath 
Councillor Imran Safdar 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 

  
Apologies: Councillor Paola Antonia Davies 

Councillor Manisha Roma Kaushik 
Councillor Musarrat Khan 
Councillor Bernard McGuin 

 
 

1 Membership of the Sub-Committee 
Apologies were received from Councillors Paola Davies, James Homewood, 
Manisha Kaushik, Bernard McGuin and Musarrat Khan. 
 
Councillor Eric Firth substituted for Councillor Homewood.  
 

2 Minutes of previous meeting 
Resolved – 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 30th November 2023 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal disclosed that he had been lobbied in respect of 
Application 2023/93291. 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items were considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

7 Site Visit - Application No. 2023/93291 
Site visit undertaken. 

Page 9



Planning Sub-Committee (Huddersfield Area) -  1 February 2024 
 

2 
 

 
8 Planning Application: 2023/93291 

The Committee considered Application 2023/93291 in respect of the erection of a 
single storey extension and raised terrace at 18 Saint Francis Gardens, Fixby, 
Huddersfield. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 36(3) the Committee received a 
representation from Councillor Zarina Amin. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received 
representations from Sabeen Akhtar and Shan Munir (in objection), and Jetinder 
Uppal and Alison Dumville (on behalf of the applicant). 
 
Resolved – 
 
That approval of the application and issue of the decision notice be delegated to the 
Head of Planning and Development, in order to complete the list of conditions, 
including those contained within the report, as set out below, subject to the 
amendment of the wording of Condition 2 to require retention of the obscuration of 
the glazing, as film had been affixed: 
 
1. Development to be completed in accordance with the approved Plans and 
Specifications. 
 

Requirement: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete 
accordance with the plans and specifications schedule listed in this decision notice, 
except as may be specified in the conditions attached to this permission, which shall 
in all cases take precedence. 
 
2. Obscuration of the clear glazing within the southern, south-eastern and eastern 
elevations. 
 

Requirement: Within one month of the date of this permission, all clear glazing within 
the eastern, south-eastern and southern elevations shall be either, fitted with 
obscure glazing and / or a permanently affixed film, which achieves a minimum 
privacy rating Grade 4. The obscure glazing and / or permanently affixed film shall 
be at a height of 1.7m when measured from the finished floor level in the locations 
detailed upon submitted drawing ref 05 RevA and retained thereafter in accordance 
with these requirements. 
 
A recorded vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42(5) as 
follows: 
For: Councillors Bellamy, Eric Firth, Jo Lawson, Lee-Richards, Marchington, 
McGrath, Safdar, Sokhal and Ullah (9 votes)  
Against: (no votes) 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 A
N

D
 L

O
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 in

te
re

st
 re

qu
ire

 y
ou

 to
 

w
ith

dr
aw

 fr
om

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

w
hi

le
 th

e 
ite

m
 in

 w
hi

ch
 

yo
u 

ha
ve

 a
n 

in
te

re
st

 is
 u

nd
er

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r i

nt
er

es
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

LO
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

D
at

e 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n/
Pa

ge
 

N
o.

 
Lo

bb
ie

d 
B

y 
(N

am
e 

of
 

pe
rs

on
) 

A
pp

lic
an

t 
O

bj
ec

to
r 

Su
pp

or
te

r 
A

ct
io

n 
ta

ke
n 

/ 
A

dv
ic

e 
gi

ve
n 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
Si

gn
ed

: 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
 

D
at

ed
: 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

.. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



N
O

TE
S 

 D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

 If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
. 

 An
y 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t, 

of
fic

e,
 tr

ad
e,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n 

or
 v

oc
at

io
n 

ca
rri

ed
 o

n 
fo

r p
ro

fit
 o

r g
ai

n,
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, u
nd

er
ta

ke
s.

 
 An

y 
pa

ym
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
. 

 An
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
- 

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
 

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
 

An
y 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t i
n 

la
nd

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

av
e 

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 is

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.

 

An
y 

lic
en

ce
 (a

lo
ne

 o
r j

oi
nt

ly
 w

ith
 o

th
er

s)
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
ol

ds
 to

 o
cc

up
y 

la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 

au
th

or
ity

 fo
r a

 m
on

th
 o

r l
on

ge
r. 

 An
y 

te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 An

y 
be

ne
fic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
(a

) t
ha

t b
od

y 
(to

 y
ou

r k
no

w
le

dg
e)

 h
as

 a
 p

la
ce

 o
f b

us
in

es
s 

or
 la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 

(b
) e

ith
er

 - 
th

e 
to

ta
l n

om
in

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f t

he
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 e
xc

ee
ds

 £
25

,0
00

 o
r o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t  
bo

dy
; o

r 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
. 

 

Lo
bb

yi
ng

 
 If 

yo
u 

ar
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

ed
 b

y 
an

y 
M

em
be

r o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f a

n 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

ag
en

da
 y

ou
 m

us
t d

ec
la

re
d 

th
at

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
be

en
 lo

bb
ie

d.
 A

 
de

cl
ar

at
io

n 
of

 lo
bb

yi
ng

 d
oe

s 
no

t a
ffe

ct
 y

ou
r a

bi
lit

y 
to

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
e 

in
 th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

or
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

Page 12



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this agenda the 
following information applies: 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of planning 
applications for the development or use of land unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  
 
The statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 
2019) and the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 8th December 
2021).  
 
National Policy/ Guidelines  
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, primarily 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 20th December 2023 the 
Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 2014 together with 
Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical guidance.  
 
The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets out how 
people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the 
development management process relating to planning applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and neighbour 
letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development Management Charter and 
in full accordance with the requirements of regulation, statute and national guidance.  
 
EQUALITY ISSUES   
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 
to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share that characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 
 

In the event that a specific development proposal has particular equality implications, 
the report will detail how the duty to have “due regard” to them has been discharged. 
  

Page 13

Agenda Item 8



 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:-  
 

 Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life.  
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right to peaceful enjoyment of property and 
possessions.   

 
The Council considers that the recommendations within the reports are in accordance 
with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of 
others and in the public interest.  
 
PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 55 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local 
Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of planning condition or obligations.   
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) stipulates that 
planning obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the development; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The NPPF and further guidance in the PPGS, launched on 6th March 2014, require that 
planning conditions should only be imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these 
are in summary: 

1. necessary; 

2. relevant to planning and; 

3. to the development to be permitted; 

4. enforceable; 

5. precise and; 

6. reasonable in all other respects 

 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before the 
Planning Committee have been made in accordance with the above requirements. 

Page 14



Report of the Head of Planning and Development

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE

Date: 28-Mar-2024

Subject: Planning Application 2022/91816 Alterations to convert existing 
properties at Carrs Close to create 6 apartments and erection of block of 12 
apartments with associated infrastructure, access, and landscaping works 
Land at, Occupation Lane and Carrs Close, Staincliffe, Dewsbury, WF13 4BJ

APPLICANT
D Ainsworth, Homelife
Holdings Ltd

DATE VALID TARGET DATE EXTENSION EXPIRY DATE
25-May-2022 24-Aug-2022 28-Sep-2023

Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at planning 
committees, including how to pre-register your intention to speak.
Public speaking at committee link
-----------
LOCATION PLAN

Map not to scale – for identification purposes only

Originator: Elenya Jackson

Tel: 01484 221000

Page 15

Agenda Item 9

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf


Electoral wards affected: Batley West

Ward Councillors consulted: Yes

Public or private: Public

RECOMMENDATION:

DELEGATE approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice to the 
Head of Planning and Development in order to complete the list of conditions 
including those contained within this report and to secure a Section 106 agreement 
to cover the following matters:
a) Affordable Housing 20% of units (4 units socially rented units),
B) Public Open Space (off-site): £36,234
C) Net Gain (to secure 10% net gain)  £36,340
D) Management and Maintenance (POS, Drainage and any ecological features)

In the circumstances where the S106 agreement has not been completed within 3 
months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the Head of Planning and 
Development shall consider whether permission should be refused on the grounds 
that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that would have 
been secured; if so, the Head of Planning and Development is authorised to 
determine the application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal under 
Delegated Powers.

1.0 INTRODUCTION:

1.1 This application has been called to committee by Cllr Pandor for the following reasons:

‘When the original application was submitted by Thomas carr mills it was agreed that 
this land would be kept as it was as an urban meadow
The traffic is already way over what it should be and there is no additional capacity 
Car parking in the area is already at a premium and many resident complain 
regularly that they cant park – where the additional cars will park I don’t know but its 
going to cause major congestion issues
The development is out of character and does not fit in with what is there at the
moment. This is overdevelopment on a massive scale’

1.2  Under the revised scheme of delegation, this application is brought to Strategic 
Planning Committee in accordance with the Delegation Agreement, (as revised
November 2023). The request has been reviewed by Chair of Strategic Committee
and he agreed that the request was acceptable.

2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS:

2.1 Land at, Occupation Lane and Carrs Close, Staincliffe, Dewsbury, WF13 4BJ is
approximately 0.19 hectares in size, which is currently occupied by a row of three 
terrace properties towards the northern boundary of the site which results in a 
reasonable amount of the site remaining undeveloped.

Page 16



2.2 The site is predominantly bordered by residential properties which is reflective of the
wider character of the area; however, there is an area of public open space west of 
the site which adjoins the redline boundary of this application.

2.3 The site is situated northwest of Dewsbury Centre, with the train station being located
1.9m away from the application site. Staincliffe park is located approximately 90m to
the East and Staincliffe Church of England Junior School 350m North East.

2.4 The site is currently accessed via Carrs Close which is an unadopted road to the north
west of the site immediately adjacent to the existing dwellings. There are no other 
access points onto the site with the south of the existing dwellings being largely 
overgrown and inaccessible.  Transport links to the site are good with a bus stop being 
located 160m East of the site boundary.

2.5 There is a small amount of existing public open space enclosing the site to the west
which feature a footpath which is utilised by residents of the area.

2.6 In terms of constraints associated with the site, it is located in a Low Risk Coal Area,
is not within a Conservation Area, is within Flood Zone 1, is not with a Bat Alert Layer,
no Public Rights of Way are implicated by the site and there are no trees subject to a 
TPO.

2.7 Properties within the immediate street scene of the site are not uniform in appearance
with dwellings of varying scale, design and age bordering the site in all directions. To
the east of the site is a residential development with a mix of mid terrace and semi- 
detached properties which are 2 and 3 storeys in height. Properties are also not 
aligned in that dwellings to the east of the site face onto Highfield chase and properties 
west face onto a small cul de sac off occupation lane.

3.0 PROPOSAL:

3.1 This application has been received for the re development of the existing units into 6
apartments and the erection of a 12 apartment block alongside associated
infrastructure, access and landscaping works.

3.2 Re-development of the existing unit:

A two storey extension to the southern elevation of the existing terraces is proposed.
This would project 3.2m beyond the principal elevation of the building, have a width of 
6.9m and feature a gable end with a maximum height of 7.5m.

3.3 Erection of 12 apartment block:

This would be located 12.6m south of the existing unit (15.5m south of the original 
principal elevation of the terrace row). The proposal would have a width of 25.8m, a 
depth of 14.3m along western elevation and 12.4m along the eastern elevation. This 
would have a maximum height of 11.2m with a hipped roof and an eaves height of 
8.5m. The proposed block of apartments would have a gable end to its principal 
elevation. There are no side facings windows on the eastern elevation which would be 
located a minimum of approximately 1.9m from the eastern boundary of the site and 
9 windows on the western elevation of the site which would be located a minimum of 
1.3m away from the western boundary.

Page 17



3.4 The apartment block would feature four apartments on each floor with the minimum
floor space of each apartment being 47m2.

3.5 The site would create an access from occupation lane and Carrs close with 6 parking
spaces (one of these would be a disabled space) to the southern elevation of the 12 
apartment block and three spaces to the west of the site which would be located 5.9m 
south of no.87 Carr’s Close.

3.6 There is proposed cycling provision to the north and south of the site which has been
revised since the initial submission of the scheme.

3.7 Bin storage is proposed 3.6m north of the 6 apartment terrace and 3.8m south of the
12 apartment block.

3.8 The existing boundary treatments on the northern or eastern elevation are to be
retained as part of the proposal, a 1,8m fence s proposed to the western elevation to
separate the site from the public space to the west,

Amendments to the original scheme are detailed in paragraph 5.1 below.

4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including enforcement history):

2007/90703 – Removal of condition 25 relating to pedestrian footpath link 
to previous permission 2006/62/93089/E1 for erection of residential 
development for 133 no. dwellings with garages. Approved 21/6/2007.

2006/03089 – Erection of residential development for 133 no. dwellings 
with garages. Approved 7/11/2006.

2012/93954: Outline application for erection of 5 dwellings. Conditional Outline 
Permission

2017/90668: Outline application for erection of 5 dwellings. Conditional outline 
permission.

5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS (including revisions to the scheme):

5.1 Since initial submission, officers requested alterations to the roof style of the 12-
apartment block, the bin location and cycle storage provision. Following an objection
from Yorkshire Water, information was requested from the applicant relating to the 
location of Yorkshire Water’s facilities on site.

5.2 Final alterations included requesting a revised layout of the proposal to reduce the
eastern elevation to two storeys

6.0 PLANNING POLICY:

6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
planning applications are determined in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The statutory Development Plan 
for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 2019).

Page 18



Kirklees Local Plan (2019):

• LP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development
• LP2 – Place shaping
• LP3 – Location of new development
• LP4 – Providing infrastructure
• LP7 – Efficient and effective use of land and buildings
• LP11 – Housing Mix and Affordable Housing
• LP20 – Sustainable travel
• LP21 – Highways and access
• LP22 – Parking
• LP23 – Core walking and cycling network
• LP24 – Design
• LP27 – Flood risk
• LP28 – Drainage
• LP30 – Biodiversity and Geodiversity
• LP32 – Landscape
• LP33 – Trees
• LP35 – Historic environment
• LP38 – Minerals safeguarding
• LP47 – Healthy, active and safe lifestyles
• LP51 – Protection and improvement of local air quality
• LP52 – Protection and improvement of environmental quality
• LP53 – Contaminated and unstable land
• LP63 – New open space

Supplementary Planning Guidance / Documents:
6.3

• Housebuilder Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2021)
• National Planning Practice Guidance
• Noise Report - Advice for Developers
• Waste Management Design Guide for New Developments (October 2020)
• West Yorkshire Air Quality and Emissions Technical Planning Guidance
• Highway Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document (2019)
• Open Space Supplementary Planning Document (2021)
• Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Advice Note (2021)
• Climate Change Guidance for Planning Applications (2021)
• Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning Document (2008)
• Interim Affordable Housing Policy (2020)
• National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) Housing for older and disabled people

(June 2019)
• Housing for Older and Disabled People National Planning Practice Guidance (2019)

National Planning Guidance:

6.4 National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements,
primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published December 
2023, and the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 
2014 together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical 
guidance.

Page 19



The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications.

Chapter 12 – Achieving well-designed places
Chapter 11- Making effective use of land
Chapter 9- promoting sustainable transport
Chapter 8- Promoting Healthy and safe communities
Chapter 5- Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

7.0 PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE:
7.1 The application was advertised by neighbour letters, a site notice and a press notice

with publicity expiring on 25/08/2023.

Following the receipt of revised elevational plans, an additional consultation was sent 
to all neighbours and interested parties this expired on 11.03.2024.

A summary of the comments provided is visible below; however, a full record is 
available on the application’s webpage:

13 Representations were received in response to the consultations which raised the 
following objections:

• Lack of parking
• Loss of light
• Highways concerns
• Impact to wildlife
• Access for emergency services
• Increased noise
• Scale of development being out of keeping
• Design of the proposal being out of keeping
• Loss of privacy/overlooking
• Antisocial behaviour/crime
• Limiting pedestrian access
• Concerns regarding occupiers of buildings
• Damage to local residents’ property.
• Pollution
• Impact to house prices

Following the further re-consultation five objections were received which raised 
concerns regarding:

• Privacy
• Highway Safety
• Wildlife
• Waste disposal
• Light levels
• Overshadowing
• Description of development inaccuracies
• Crime
• Property values
• Obstructing views
• Inappropriate materials
• Noise
• Loss of light

Page 20



8.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES:

8.1 Statutory:

KC Highways: KC Highways commented on the initial scheme and objected to the 
proposal as ‘ The Waste Strategy sections recommendations regarding the size and/or 
location of the bin stores and the need for a bin presentation point close to Occupation 
Lane do not appear to have been complied with and these proposals cannot therefore 
be considered acceptable to HDM’ a revised site plan has been provided which has 
parking and cycling provision. A separate consultation was conducted with KC Waste 
following the comments provided. Following the confirmation that bin presentation 
points are able to be conditioned by KC Waste, a further informal consultation was 
held with KC Highways who had no further comments on the scheme.

Lead Local Flood Authority: The LLFA will require details of the proposed surface 
water strategy; it has been agreed that this can be conditioned and will request details 
of the phasing of the development and phasing of temporary drainage provision 
including methods of preventing silt, debris and contaminants entering existing 
drainage systems and watercourses and how flooding of adjacent land is prevented, 
a plan showing the location of the attenuation storage and supporting calculations, 
which shall be based on the critical 1 in 2-year storm.  The maximum allowable off- 
site discharge rate shall not exceed 2.5 litres per second per ha, unless otherwise 
agreed with the LLFA.

8.2 Non-statutory:

KC Environmental Health: No mitigation measures required relating to noise.

However, the site is indicated as having the potential to be contaminated due to its 
historical land use and officers agree with the recommendations of the phase one 
report. Therefore, subject to conditions related to contaminated land and ground gas 
monitoring no objections in this instance.

A construction management plan has been provided to support the application;
however, further information is required. As a result, a condition is deemed necessary
relating to protect the amenity of sensitive noise receptors during construction.

A condition relating to electric vehicle charging points is deemed necessary due to the 
scale of the proposal to accord with policy LP51 of the Kirklees Local Plan

KC Trees: Further planting required within the public open space and therefore a 
condition is deemed necessary requiring the submission of a landscaping plan.

Strategic Housing: The applicant is proposed 100% affordable housing and therefore 
no conditions are deemed necessary as the proposal is considered to satisfy the 
requirements of LP11 of the Kirklees Local Plan.

KC Adult Services: Given the location of this scheme and the council’s direction for 
meeting housing need I feel that approval would deliver an improved offer for people 
of Kirklees experiencing mental health concerns and would meet our ongoing need to 
develop specialist supported accommodation. The development will also assist in 
creating local jobs through the need for the on-site support delivered to support tenants 
in their progress towards more independent living.

Page 21



Crime Prevention: No objection to the principle of the application

Yorkshire Water: Initially raised an objection due to the location of YW facilities being
unknown on site. The applicant conducted further surveys with Yorkshire Water to
located the services and the objection was subsequently removed

KC Waste: Initially additional details were requested from the applicant relating to bin
storage and presentation points. Further information was provided by the applicant, 
and it has therefore been determined that, subject to conditions relating to the 
implementation of a management plan, there are no outstanding issues from a waste 
perspective.

KC Ecology: KC Ecology have been consulted on the application and identified that 
there would be a net loss of 1.24 units on site. The applicant has provided details of 
1.58 hedgerow units being achieved on site; however, hedgerows are not habitat units 
but linear features  and, the uplift in hedgerow units cannot be utilised to off-set the 
requirement to achieve a 10% net gain in habitat units at the site. As a result, 1.58 
habitat units will need to be delivered, via off-site compensation. In line with the 
Kirklees Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Advice Note and suitably worded conditions.

KC Public Open Space: KC Public Open space have provided comments that as the 
site lies well within the acceptable guidelines for proximity to existing provision 
including Staincliffe Park and others well within a 15min walk and less than 720m away 
we would recommend an off-site contribution towards existing provision.

9.0 MAIN ISSUES

• Principle of development
• Urban design issues
• Residential amenity
• Highway issues
• Representations
• Other matters

10.0 APPRAISAL

Principle of development

10.1 The site is without notation on the Kirklees Local Plan (KLP). Policy LP1 of the KLP 
states that when considering development proposals, the Council will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained
in the NPPF.

10.2 Policy LP1 sets out the Local Planning Authority’s approach to the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, as laid out in NPPF (Chapter 2). Policy LP1 states
that ‘when considering development proposals, the council will take a positive 
approach that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained 
in the National Planning Policy Framework’.

10.3 Policy LP2 requires that ‘proposals should seek to build on the strengths, opportunities 
and help address challenges identified in the Local Plan, in order to protect and
enhance the qualities which contribute to the character of these places.

Page 22

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/biodiverstiy-net-gain-technical-advice-note.pdf


10.4 Policy LP3 concerns the location of new development. In considering the 
abovementioned requirements of Policies LP1 and LP2, proposals are also required
to reflect a settlement’s size and function, place shaping strengths and
opportunities/challenges for growth, spatial priorities for urban renaissance and 
regeneration, and the need to provide new homes and jobs.

10.5 In addition, Policy LP11 requires proposals of 10 or more dwellings to provide a mix 
of housing reflecting the proportions of households that require housing, achieving a
mix of house size and tenure. This includes provision of dwellings suitable for 
adaptation and/or use from those with specialist needs as outlined in section 8.32.

10.6 Within the affordable housing and housing mix SPD (March 2023) it is identified that 
Batley and Spen have a requirement of 60% + affordable housing for 1-2 bedroom
dwellings.

10.7 The Kirklees Specialist Accommodation Strategy 2022 – 2030 forms part of the 
Kirklees housing strategy and covers individuals that the local authority and its health 
partners support in homes that are designed to meet the particular needs of different 
people in their homes so that they remain independent. This outlines methods to 
address the shortage of specialist accommodation provision within the region. By 2030
it is hoped to increase the number of provisions for people with mental health issues 
to live independently. It is understood that from data in 2020 there were just under 160 
individuals within this category in Kirklees and provision for 145 individuals in Kirklees 
with only 1% residing in shared supported accommodation, 31% in supported 
accommodation, 43% in care home facilities and 25% in Floating Support.

10.8 The facility would provide a form of supported accommodation which is defined as . A 
person living in their own home, but the accommodation is grouped together (rented)
with onsite support.

10.9 Within the Kirklees Specialist Accommodation Strategy 2022 – 2030, the ambition for 
the accommodation range within this sector seeks to increase the provision to 36% by
2030. It is considered that this facility would provide 18 units in the above category.

10.10 Following on from this, paragraph 6.8 of the Kirklees Local Plan makes reference to 
the important contribution that windfall sites can make in delivering housing supply. It
has previously been highlighted that the site does not from part of a housing allocation
and would therefore deliver an additional 18 affordable housing units within the Batley
West ward.

10.11 It is acknowledged the requirement of LP11 requires a mix of tenures; however, it is 
considered that,  the application would provide an alternative form of care for 
individuals from within Kirklees without implicating land allocated as housing in the 
Kirklees Local Plan. The proposal would provide limited support for individuals living
within the unit and would therefore remain as a C3 use with 100% affordable housing
contribution, it is important to highlight as a merit of the scheme that it would provide 
a form of supported accommodation for individuals that are below the age of 65 which 
do not require the extent of support that a C2 use could accommodate. . It should also 
be recognised that the occupants would benefit from assisted living whilst assisting 
the authority in achieving the Kirklees Specialist Accommodation Strategy.

10.12 As such, Officers consider that the principle of development for the proposal to be in 
accordance with Policies LP1, LP2, and LP3 of the adopted Kirklees Local Plan and
NPPF (Chapters 2 and 11), particularly Paragraph 123.

Page 23



10.13 Development Density

10.14 Policy LP7 states that developments should achieve a net density of at least 35 
dwellings per hectare, where appropriate. It also identifies that proposals should 
encourage the use of previously developed land in sustainable locations and give 
priority to despoiled, degraded, derelict and contaminated land that is not of high
environmental value.

10.15  The site has an area of 0.19 hectares and would represent a net contribution of 15 
dwellings on site, 18 overall dwellings. This would be considered LP7 of the Kirklees
Local Plan as it would meet the net density requirement of at least 35 dwellings per 
hectare whilst incorporating previously developed land in a sustainable location.

10.16 By officers’ calculations, the site should accommodate 6/7 dwellings to accord with 
LP7 of the Kirklees Local Plan. As the site has an area of 0.19 of a hectare and would 
accommodate 18 dwellings, the density of the site when converted to hectares would 
translate to 94 DPH, this exceeds the requirement of LP7. Officers consider that due
to the tenure of the proposal and the dwellings being flats with reasonable access to
outdoor space and minimum internal footprint of 47m2, the development would be an 
appropriate density for the type of accommodation and needs of the occupants in this 
instance.

10.17 Housing Supply :

10.18 The 2023 update of the five-year housing land supply position for Kirklees shows 3.96 
years supply of housing land, and the 2022 Housing Delivery Test (HDT) 
measurement which was published on 19th December 2023 demonstrated that 
Kirklees had achieved a 67% measurement against the required level of housing
delivery over a rolling 3-year period (against a pass threshold of 75%).

10.19 As the Council is currently unable to demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable 
housing sites, and delivery of housing has fallen below the 75% HDT requirement, it
is necessary to consider planning applications for housing development in the context
of NPPF paragraph 11 which triggers a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. This means that for decision making “Where there are no relevant 
development plan policies, or the policies which are most important for determining 
the application are out-of-date (NPPF Footnote 8), granting permission unless: (i) the 
application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 
importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed (NPPF 
Footnote 7) ; or (ii) any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole.”

10.20 The Council’s inability to demonstrate a five-year supply of housing land, or pass the 
Housing Delivery Test, weighs in favour of housing development but this has to be 
balanced against any adverse impacts of granting the proposal. The judgement in this
case is set out in the officer’s assessment below.

Page 24



10.21 Summary:

10.22 Officers consider the principal of the proposal to be acceptable given that the site is 
on un-allocated land and as such would represent a windfall site, would meet the 
minimum requirement for housing density requirement in accordance with LP7 and
has identified the contribution to housing mix in accordance with LP11. As such, 
Officers consider that the principle of development for the proposal to be in accordance 
with Policies LP1, LP2, and LP3 and LP11 of the adopted Kirklees Local Plan and 
NPPF (Chapters 2 and 11), particularly Paragraph 123.

11.0 Urban Design issues

11.1 Policy LP24 states that good design should be at the core of all proposals in the district 
and should be considered at the outset of the development process. Furthermore, 
proposals should promote good design by ensuring that the form, scale, layout and
details of the development respect and enhance the character of the area, provide 
high levels of sustainability, and minimise the risk of crime, amongst other criteria.

11.2 NPPF (Chapter 12) sets out the national approach to achieving well-designed places. 
Paragraph 135 states that proposals should function well and add to the overall quality
of the area for the lifetime of the development, be visually attractive as a result of good 
architecture, be sympathetic to local character and history, establish or maintain a 
strong sense of place, optimise the site’s potential to accommodate and sustain an 
appropriate amount and mix of development, and create places that are safe, inclusive 
and accessible.

11.3 It is acknowledged that the development is not for a typical C3 residential unit;
however, it is considered that as the proposal is for a residential use, the Kirklees
House Builders Design guide is still considered relevant in this context.

11.4 Principle 2 refers to the context of the site and states that development should
complement existing built form in terms of its height, shape, form and architectural 
details.

11.5 A design and access statement has been provided to support the application which
outlines the core principals of the development.

11.6 There are minimal alterations to the design of the existing terrace to the rear of the
site; however, a two storey gable ended projection is proposed to the principal 
elevation. The proposed materials for this have not been explicitly given, and 
therefore would need to be secured via condition. The incorporation of a gable end is 
not considered an inappropriate addition within the area due to the existing structure 
featuring a gable end  and properties along occupation lane being of similar design.

11.7 The proposed 12 apartment block would be constructed out of stone blocks with re
constituted stone lintels, upvc windows and feature a tiled roof. As the area is 
characterised by Yorkshire stone and modern replicas, it is considered that this is an 
appropriate material palette as variations are not prominent within occupation lane 
which the proposal would front.

11.8 The proposal would feature three storeys with a maximum height of 11.2m which
would face onto occupation lane; however, this would be set back approximately 
13.6m north of the site boundary. It is considered that this would assist with reducing 
the structures prominence within the street scene whilst respecting existing building

Page 25



lines in the street scene. Officers have also requested that the proposal is reduced to 
two storeys along the eastern boundary with a maximum height of 8.4m to reduce 
the scale and mass of the development from the public realm. The façade of the 12 
apartment block draws similarities from residential properties within the vicinity 
particularly those on Highfield Chase to the east of the site. In addition, the style and 
window spacing replicates the modern town house design to the east of the site and 
the scale of the development is comparable to development situated to the east, 
namely 64-70 Highfield Chase.

11.9 It is therefore considered that, the proposal would demonstrate a good level of
sustainability through the re development of existing structures and the form scale
and layout of the development has been adequately detailed and justified in the 
supporting documents.

12.0 Residential Amenity

12.1 Consideration in relation to the impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring
occupants shall now be set out, taking into account policy LP24 c), which sets out 
that proposals should promote good design by, amongst other things, extensions 
minimising impact on residential amenity of future and neighbouring occupiers. The 
SPD goes into further detail with respect to Key Design Principle 3 on privacy, Key 
Design Principle 5 on overshadowing/loss of light, Key Design Principle 6 on 
preventing overbearing impact and Key Principle 7 for outdoor space.

12.2 35 Highfield Chase:
This property is situated approximately 16m north of the application site. As there are
no alterations to the rear of the existing terrace it is considered that no significant 
issues would arise regarding overlooking/overshadowing/loss of light/overbearing. 
The proposed 12 apartment block would be set a sufficient distance from this dwelling 
to not raise any significant concerns regarding the residential amenity of these 
dwellings.

12.3 4 Carrs Close and 87 Occupation Lane: No 4 is situated to the north-west of the site
and no 87 is situated to the west. As there are no alterations to the rear of the
existing terrace and no additional side facing windows for habitable rooms, it is 
considered that no significant issues would arise regarding
overlooking/overshadowing/loss of light/overbearing. The proposed 12 apartment 
block would be set a sufficient distance from this dwelling to not raise any significant 
concerns regarding the residential amenity of these dwellings.

12.4 21-33 Highfield Chase : adjoin the application site to the east. There is a minimum
separation distance of approximately 10m between the existing structures and the 
rear elevation of these dwellings which would be retained if the proposal received 
permission. The proposed conversion of the three terrace properties would utilise the 
existing fenestration in the eastern elevation of the structure and existing boundary 
treatments would be retained between the dwellings. The proposed 12 apartment 
block would be situated 6.5m south west of the private amenity space of no.21. and 
a minimum of 15.5m away from the main dwelling. It is considered that, due to their 
being an offset relationship between the structure and a sufficient separation 
distance between the main dwelling and the proposal, no significant issues would 
arise regarding overlooking/overshadowing/loss of light/overbearing.

Page 26



12.5 17-19 Highfield Chase also adjoin the application site to the east.
Overlooking: There would be no additional windows or doors in the eastern elevation 
of the new apartment block and therefore no significant issues would arise regarding 
overlooking.
Overshadowing/loss of light/overbearing: The existing terrace would not be
significantly different to the existing structure and therefore no further comments on 
this aspect. The 12 apartment block would be located 14.3m away from the rear 
elevation of no.17 and an offset relationship with no.19 which would retain 12.4m 
between the properties. Principle 6 of the Kirklees House Builders Design Guide refers 
to retaining high standards of residential amenity and states that the typical minimum 
separation distances would be 12m for windows of habitable rooms that face onto 
windows of non habitable rooms. As previously highlighted, the proposal would not 
feature any side facing windows in the eastern elevation and it is therefore considered 
that these separation distances would be acceptable. The proposal has been reduced 
along the eastern elevation to two storeys which is matching to the immediately 
adjoining development, this would have the separation distances previously 
highlighted with the three storey element of the proposal being situated an additional 
5.7m away. It is acknowledged by officers that this would be a different relationship 
due to the land currently being undeveloped; however, officers consider that, there 
would be an acceptable separation distance between the development and the 
reduced scale of the property along the eastern elevation of the proposal would 
prevent any significant concerns being raised regarding overshadowing/loss of light or 
overbearing.

12.6 97 Occupation Lane: adjoins the application site to the east and immediately abuts 
occupation lane. The proposal would be set approximately 4.7m west of the property
and set back approximately 11m from the principal elevation of no.97.
Overlooking: The proposal would not feature any side facing windows on its eastern
elevation.
Overshadowing/loss of light: The proposal would be set 4.7m east of no.97 and due
to no.97 benefitting from a significant single storey side/rear extension, would not 
significantly intercept the private amenity space of the dwelling. No.97 has a side 
facing window at ground floor level in the extension which from reviewing previous 
planning history at the site, it is understood this relates to a bedroom which is a 
habitable room. This application was given planning permission without the inclusion 
of a side facing window and officers are unable to locate a variation of condition or 
revised application permitting the introduction of this window. Nevertheless, the
structure also benefits from a roof light and therefore it is considered there is a
secondary light source to this room and no significant issues would arise regarding 
overshadowing/loss of light.
Overbearing: As previously highlighted, no.97 benefits from a single storey rear 
extension which would prevent the proposal from significantly intercepting the private 
amenity space of no.97. In addition, the proposal would be set approximately 4.7m 
away from the side elevation of no.97 and has been reduced in scale along its eastern 
boundary since submission. Therefore, no significant issues would arise regarding 
overbearing.

12.7 Future Occupiers

12.8 The sizes (in sqm) of the proposed units are a material planning consideration. Local 
Plan policy LP24 states that proposals should promote good design by ensuring they 
provide a high standard of amenity for future and neighbouring occupiers, and the 
provision of residential units of an adequate size can help to meet this objective. 
Although the Government’s Nationally Described Space Standards (March 2015,

Page 27



updated 2016) (NDSS) are not adopted planning policy in Kirklees, they provide useful 
guidance which applicants are encouraged to meet and exceed, as set out in the 
council’s draft Housebuilder Design Guide SPD.

12.9 The units would have a minimum size of 47m2 each and a maximum of 49m2 each. 
As the units are single person occupancy, they would be required to have a footprint
of 37m2 (39m2 due to the floor plans showing a bath. The units would exceed the
minimum requirements and would therefore provide acceptable living conditions for 
the future occupiers of the site.

12.10 The proposed development is not considered detrimental to the amenity of 
neighbouring residents. Furthermore, the proposal would secure an acceptable 
standard of amenity for future residents.  The proposal is deemed to comply with
policies LP24 of the Kirklees Local Plan

13.0 Noise, Odour & External Lighting

13.1 Policy LP52 requires that proposals which have the potential to increase noise,
vibration, light, dust, odour, shadow flicker, chemical or other forms of pollution must
be accompanied by evidence to show that the impacts have been evaluated and 
measures have been incorporated to prevent or reduce the pollution, so as to ensure 
it does not reduce the quality of life and well-being of people to an unacceptable 
level or have unacceptable impacts on the environment.

13.2 Usually, care home developments are commonly found in residential areas and are
not generally considered to be a noise generating uses, over and above the noise
made by people living and working in them and the use of medical equipment and 
internal alarms. Noise levels would also need to be kept at an operationally safe 
level to maintain the residential amenity of future occupiers and staff. It is considered 
that, the development would be retaining a C3 use which is characteristic of 
development in the immediate vicinity.

13.3 The application has been supported with an Environmental Noise Survey, Noise
Break-In Assessment & Sound Insulation Scheme authored by NOVA Acoustics
dated 17 May 2022 Ref 7745HH. This has been reviewed by KC Environmental 
Health and an addendum report is required to rectify discrepancies between tables 
contained in the document. Officers would be able to secure this via the relevant 
conditions.

13.4 No details for an external lighting scheme have been submitted at this stage. It is
therefore unclear what types and luminosities of external lighting would be used at
the site. However, Officers note that conditions could be secured for a full external 
lighting strategy to ensure that external lighting does not have a detrimental impact 
on the residential amenity of neighbouring occupiers or local wildlife.

It is considered that subject to conditions the proposal would accord with LP52 of the 
Kirklees Local Plan.

14.0 Highway issues
14.1 Policy LP21 requires proposals to demonstrate sustainable modes of transport and

be accessed effectively and safely by all users. New development will normally be 
permitted where safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people 
and where the residual cumulative impacts of development are not severe. 
Proposals are required to demonstrate adequate information and mitigation 
measures to avoid a detrimental impact on highway safety and the local highway 
network.

Page 28



14.2 NPPF (Chapter 9)  states that development should only be prevented or refused on
highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or 
the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. Paragraph 
112 further details priority use of new roads, addressing the needs of people with 
disabilities, creating safe and secure places, allowing for efficient delivery of good 
and emergency service access, and enabling the use of electric vehicles.

14.3 A transport assessment has been provided to support the application which outlines
that the existing three spaces associated with the terrace row will be retained as staff 
parking. The five parking spaces and one disabled space proposed to the south of 
the site are for visitors of the site as residents are unlikely to benefit from the use of 
their own car. Due to the intended use of the site, it has been calculated that there 
would be approximately 1 car trip every twenty minutes during peak hours 
associated with the development.

14.4 The transport statement explains that there are not set visiting times on site and
therefore increased traffic volumes are unlikely to be different to a standard C3 use, 
members of staff will visit the site on a rota basis and only one member of staff will 
be on site between 11pm and 7am.

14.5 The proposal would create an additional access from occupation lane which would
be 5.5m in width with 9.1m of dropped kerbs leading to the road carriageway.

14.6 Cycle storage for 18 bikes has been allocated for to the north and south west of the
site which would support the application being in accordance with LP21 of the
Kirklees Local Plan.

14.7 The site has been demonstrated to be within a sustainable location with a bus stop
being a 3 minute walk from the site and several amenities being within a 2km 
distance of the site.

14.8 Comments from KC Highways have not raised any objections relating to parking
provision on site or highway safety.

14.9 Further to the requirements of Policy LP21, Policy LP24(d)(vi) also requires that
proposals incorporate adequate facilities to allow occupiers to separate and store 
waste for recycling and recovery that are well designed and visually unobtrusive and 
allows for the convenient collection of waste; however, Highways officers have 
queried the location of bin storage and presentation points on bin collection day. 
Revised plans have bene provided by the applicant; however, this still requires the 
provision of bin storage near Carrs close which collection wagons are unable to 
utilise.

14.10 These comments and the amended plans have been reviewed with KC waste and it
is considered that subject to conditions requiring a management strategy of the
waste collection, these details could be conditioned to be acceptable. Therefore, 
subject to conditions, it is considered that there are no significant concerns regarding 
highway safety and the proposal would accord with LP21 and LP22 of the Kirklees 
Local Plan and the aims of chapter 9 of the NPPF

Page 29



15.0 Flood Risk and Drainage:

15.1  Policy LP28 contains a presumption for the use of sustainable drainage systems 
(SuDS). In addition to this presumption, the policy also states that ‘development will
only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that the water supply and wastewater
infrastructure required is available or can be co-ordinated to meet the demand 
generated by the new development’.

15.2 NPPF (Chapter 14) requires major developments to incorporate sustainable drainage 
systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate, in line with
the sustainable drainage hierarchy.

15.3 The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and details of foul, surface and land water drainage
have not been provided to support the application.

15.4 The LLFA have been consulted on this application and are in support of the 
application subject to the implementation of pre commencement conditions relating to 
drainage, overland flow routing and surface water flood risk and pollution plan have
been provided.

15.5 Yorkshire Water also note the presence of a sewer asset running into the site. This 
had resulted in an initial  objection from Yorkshire Water; however, further works were 
undertaken with Yorkshire water and officers note that the sewer is in close proximity
to the existing terrace row and the proposed bin storage. Therefore, there is limited 
development in close proximity to the sewer and further details of bin storage are to 
be secured via condition. Further details have been provided by the applicant and the 
objection from Yorkshire water has subsequently been removed subject to conditions.

15.6 Officers note the recommendations for pre-commencement conditions for further 
specific details, which would be secured. Therefore, subject to conditions the proposal
is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP28 of the adopted Kirklees Local Plan 
and NPPF (Chapter 14).

16.0 Ecology, Biodiversity & Trees

16.1 Policy LP30 requires that proposals do not result in unmitigated or uncompensated 
significant loss of or harm to biodiversity and should provide biodiversity net gains
through good design.

16.2 The Council’s adopted Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Advice Note Paragraph 3.1.1 
states that ‘at this time, in the absence of legislation, a minimum of 10% net gain in
biodiversity is required’.

16.3 NPPF (Chapter 15) Paragraph 174(d) further requires that proposals should minimise 
impacts on and provide net gains for biodiversity. In addition, Paragraph 180(a) also
states that if a proposal would result in unmitigated or uncompensated significant 
harm to biodiversity, planning permission should be refused.

16.5 The applicant has provided: A Bat scoping report, An Ecological Survey and a
Mammal survey to support the application.

Page 30



16.6 The details highlight that no terrestrial mammals were located on site; however, the 
bat survey was conducted in March 2022 and it is usually recommended these are 
conducted between May-September. There was evidence of fox’s and Norway Rats
on site. The report has been summarised by recommending a series of ecological 
enhancements, including Biodiversity Net Gain.  These include consideration of 
external lighting, provision of bird and bat boxes, and native species planting.

16.7  Policy LP33 states that planning permission will not be granted for developments 
which directly or indirectly threaten trees or woodland of significant amenity. 
Furthermore, proposals should normally retain any valuable or important trees where
they make a contribution to public amenity, the distinctiveness of a specific location 
or contribute to the environment.

16.8 There are currently no protected trees on site and KC Trees has identified a group of 
multi stemmed sycamore to the north west of the site. The landscape plan submitted
to support the application does include the introduction of trees; however, officers 
consider that the proposal would benefit from further planting to screen the 
development. It is considered this information can be secured via condition.

16.9 KC Ecology have been consulted on the application and highlighted that the
proposal would represent a net loss of 1.24 habitat units. The details provided state 
that 1.58 hedgerow units would be provided; however, these would not contribute to 
a habitat units on site as hedgerows are linear features and 1.58 habitat units would 
still need to be provided, these can be achieved via an offsite contribution or a 
combination of the following:

• Management of land within the control of the developer;
• Purchase of the required compensation value from a Habitat Bank; 
• Payment of a commuted sum to the Local Planning Authority; or
• A combination of all or some of the above.

16.9  Conditions are proposed to secure the aforementioned details which should also be 
inclusive of a demonstrable 10% Biodiversity Net Gain as set out in the Council’s 
Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Advice Note. Any habitats that are to be delivered on
site will be secured via conditions and officers consider that due to the scale of the
development a biodiversity net gain contribution will be required which will be secured 
by a Section 106 agreement.

A condition limiting on-site works to outside of the bird nesting season would also be 
secured. Given this, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy LP30 
and LP33 of the adopted Kirklees Local Plan and NPPF (Chapter 15).

17.0 Representations

17.1 At the time of writing, 18 objections had been received to the application. Officers will
respond to the material planning considerations below:

Lack of parking/Highways Safety/Access/Emergency Vehicle Access
Response: Officers have reviewed the information provided, requested further details 
from the applicant and consulted KC Highways Development Management, It has 
been clarified that few individuals who would be living at the proposal would have 
access to their own vehicles, there would be a maximum of two members of staff at 
any time which would be accommodated by the three parking spaces to the north west 
of the site. KC Highways Development Management and KC Waste have reviewed 
the application and have not raised any concerns subject conditions. Page 31



Loss of light
Response: The proposals impact to the residential amenity of neighbouring residents 
has been assessed in section 12 of the officer report

Impact to wildlife
Response: The applicant has provided: A Bat scoping report, An Ecological Survey 
and a Mammal survey to support the application which have been reviewed by 
officers. It is considered that no protected species were found on site at the time of 
the surverys. KC Ecology have reviewed the details provided and noted that the 
proposal would represent a habitat unit loss and that 1.58 units would be required to 
achieve the 10% uplift on site in line with the Kirklees Biodiversity Net Gain Technical 
Advice Note. Conditions are therefore to be imposed on the application should it
receive permission and a s106 agreement secured for any off site contributions.

Noise:
Response: Offices have addressed concerns regarding noise in section 13.0 
paragraph 13.1 and section 21.0 of the officer report.

Scale of development being out of keeping
Response: Officers have assessed the design of the proposal in the urban design
section of the report. It is considered that the design of the proposal is in keeping with 
the building mix in the vicinity and takes architectural reference  from the character of 
the area. The scale is appropriate in the context of the site and the urban context in 
which it sits.

Design of the proposal being out of keeping
Response: Response: Officers have assessed the design of the proposal in the urban 
design section of the report. It is considered that the design of the proposal is in 
keeping with the building mix in the vicinity and takes architectural reference from the 
character of the area.

Loss of privacy/overlooking
Response: The proposals impact to the residential amenity of neighbouring residents
has been assessed in section 12 of the officer report

Pollution
Response: The site is considered to have the potential to be contaminated and as 
such a phase one desk top study has been provided to support the application. This 
has been reviewed by KC Environmental Health and conditions requested in 
response.

18.0 Other Matters

18.1 Carbon Budget

The applicant’s Climate Change Statement sets out the following provisions:

• Install ‘smart’ energy metering, including displays showing the amount and
cost of energy consumed.

• Ensure that building service controls such as lighting and gas boiler controls,
and management systems are user friendly, efficient, up to date, and
complementary –

• Use LED light fittings where possible –

Page 32



• Use energy efficient white goods (rating where possible) (e.g. fridges,
washing machines).

• Providing external space for drying washing naturally
• ‘Welcome packs’ to inform occupiers about the efficient use of their heating

and lighting systems.
• Follow the waste management hierarchy and incorporate facilities to minimise

waste as part of development proposals during demolition, site clearance,
construction and when subsequently occupied.

• Designing the building footprint to be as efficient as possible - The design
ensures that there is sufficient space for occupiers of completed schemes to
store separated waste awaiting collection for recycling and disposal. 
Requirements for refuse and recycling are designed as an integral part of new 
residential development.

• Sourcing materials with a low U-value (a measure of the materials heat loss
value).

• Sourcing materials locally to reduce the need for transport.
• Selecting materials that have a long life and require little maintenance.
• Selecting materials that have low levels of embodied energy (energy used in

manufacture).
• Considering the full life cycle of alternative materials
• The project will adopt a fabric first approach adding additional insulation

where possible
• A further review post approval for additional facilities
• Automatic lights
• Electric vehicle charging points
• Provision of cycle stores.

It is recommended that for the avoidance of doubt, and enforceability, a 
condition should be imposed requiring specific measures to be built into the 
fabric of the development, and that details of these shall be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. Subject to this condition, the 
proposed development would comply with the aims of Local Plan Policy LP24
(b) and Chapter 14 of the NPPF.

19.0 Contaminated Land

The site has been identified as being potentially contaminated due to its previous 
use/s (site reference: 217/5) and as a result, a A Phase 1: Preliminary Risk 
Assessment by LK Consult dated 13th May 2-22 (ref: CL-602- LKC 22 1147-01) has 
been submitted in support of the application which summarises that a phase 2 report 
would be required.

These details have been reviewed by KC Environmental Health who agree with the 
recommendations of the report. Therefore, subject to the implementation of 
conditions, the proposal would accord with policy LP53 of the Kirklees Local Plan.

20.0 Coal Mining Legacy

The site lies in a Coal Advice Area, which is considered to pose a low risk to 
developments from potential previous mine workings in the area. The Coal Authority 
have been consulted on the application and have not raised any objections. A note 
would be added to any decision notice advising the applicant of the standing advice 
from The Coal Authority.

Page 33



21.0 Construction Matters

As with any new development project, there would likely be some disturbance to 
residential amenity during the construction phase of the proposal. A construction 
management plan has been provided by the applicant which has been reviewed by 
KC Environmental Health. The submitted construction management plan fails to 
address any noise from construction-related activities that may result in loss of 
amenity to nearby sensitive receptors during construction. It does not give the details 
of the responsible person; it has not given any detail regarding security lighting and 
has not included all the possible fugitive dust mitigation controls. For this reason, we 
recommend a condition to protect the amenity of nearby sensitive receptors during 
construction. Officers agree with this approach and would secure the relevant 
conditions.

22.0 Employment opportunities

Policy LP9 of the Kirklees Local Plan states that where possible, proposals for 
new development will be strongly encouraged to contribute to the creation of 
local employment opportunities within the district with the aim of increasing 
wage levels and to support growth in the overall proportion of the districts' 
residents in education or training. This may include specific training or 
apprenticeships that are related to the proposed development, or support for 
other agreed priorities for improving skills or the creation of conditions to 
support a higher-performing workforce, increasing productivity and the in-work 
progression of employees.

Although the proposal would provide an element of care, the proposal would 
continue to fall within a C3 use. The proposal would likely provide some local 
employment opportunities for a range of job roles associated with the management, 
maintenance, operation, and care requirements of the development and its residents 
as it is detailed within the supporting documents that the parking provision on the 
western boundary of the site would be retained for staff. However, the application 
form states that no employment opportunities would be gained or lost as a result of 
the proposal.

Officers have approached the applicant for clarification on these matters and it has 
been detailed that :

‘ The accommodation will be for social rent, with tenants renting an apartment within 
the development.  Tenants will be in receipt of a care assessment carried out by 
Kirklees Council and as a result tenants will be eligible for care funding to purchase 
hours of support to help them with domiciliary tasks, and assistance to access 
community-based activities such as shopping, medical appointments and leisure and 
education or employment opportunities.  The care funding will be statutory funding to 
which each tenant is entitle to, and this will be paid by Kirklees Council.

Tenants will use their care funding to purchase care and support from a CQC approved 
support provider.  Staff employed by a support provider will travel to the development 
to visit each person in their apartment.  Support tasks will be carried out in the 
apartment and people will be supported to access the wider community.  Off-site 
support tasks will be carried out on foot or using public transport.

Most support staff visiting supported housing properties tend to be recruited from the
local area, or travel by bus.  Support providers also encourage car sharing
arrangements to reduce travel costs.

Page 34



There will be a core staff presence within the property during the daytime and at night 
if night support supervision is required.  The core team usually consists of two 
dedicated people during the daytime hours between 7.00am and 11.00pm.  The two 
staff members are supplemented (if required) by the support carried out by visiting 
support workers.
During the hours of 11.00pm and 7.00am there will be one member of staff working a
waking night.  This may be increased to two members of staff if required.  No 
supplementary staff will be required between 11.00pm to 7.00am unless there is an 
emergency or there is an identified need.

Medical staff will not travel to the property, tenants will access hospital and doctor’s 
appointments in the community.

Data from existing supported housing developments completed by the developer show 
that tenants rarely drive or own a vehicle.  The apartments planned for Occupation 
Lane have been designed for people who are not wheelchair users, and it is unlikely 
tenants will have a mobility vehicle.

It is officers’ present opinion that due to the proposal retaining a C3 use, the positive 
benefits of the development in terms of job creation would be sufficient to fulfil the 
requirements of Policy LP9 and that further commitments (e.g. training) will not be 
required of the applicant in this instance.

23.0 CONCLUSION

23.1 The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable development. The
policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the Government’s view of 
what sustainable development means in practice.
This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the development
plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the development 
proposals would accord with the development plan and the NPPF and other material 
consideration.

Since submission, officers have negotiated with the applicant, to amend the design 
of the 12 apartment block, clarification on matters relating to waste has been sought, 
revised block plans received, additional details sought relating to waste and cycling 
storage and all statutory consultees consulted.

The proposal would create 18 affordable units (net gain 15 dwellings) to provide 
supported accommodation on a windfall site, whilst meeting the minimum requirement 
for housing density and contributing to housing mix and supply within Kirklees. Officers 
consider that the proposal would be acceptable in visual design, create suitable living 
standards for future occupiers and have acceptable impact in residential amenity of 
neighbouring residents.

As set out above, this application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 
development plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the 
development would constitute sustainable development subject to conditions and is 
therefore recommended for approval.

12.0 CONDITIONS

1. Timeframe for commencement  of three years
2. Details of Materials to be submitted and approved
3.  Drainage details and management plan during construction and attenuationPage 35



4 Yorkshire water requested condition.
5  Vehicular access surfacing
6 Landscaping details to be submitted and approved in writing to ensure

appropriate.
7 External lighting to limit impact to residential amenity and wildlife.
8 Acoustic reports to be submitted and approved due to addendum requirement
9 Waste management for Highway Safety
10 Biodiversity net gain as 10% minimum contribution is required on site
11 Contaminated land to ensure the site is suitable for safe occupation due to its

former use
12 Carbon budget details to ensure the proposal would accord with LP24(B)
13 Construction management plan to protect amenity of nearby sensitive receptors

during construction
14 Details of boundary treatments to be submitted and approved in writing
15 Clearance works to be completed outside bird nesting season
16 All units shall be for social rent as stipulated in the application form and agreed

with strategic housing.

Background Papers:
Application and history files.
Planning application details | Kirklees Council
Certificate of Ownership –Certificate B signed:

Page 36

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2022/91816

	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Minutes of the Heavy Woollen and Huddersfield Area Planning Sub-Committees
	6. Huddersfield Planning Minutes 1-2-24

	4 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	8 Planning Applications
	9 Planning Application - Application No: 2022/91816
	Subject: Planning Application 2022/91816 Alterations to convert existing properties at Carrs Close to create 6 apartments and erection of block of 12 apartments with associated infrastructure, access, and landscaping works Land at, Occupation Lane and...


